

Airdrie Little League Baseball



LEAGUE BY-LAWS

Revised January 2006

ARTICLE 1 - NAME

This organization shall be known as the **Airdrie Little League Baseball Association** hereinafter referred to as "**The League**". The League may also operate and be known as "**Airdrie Minor Baseball**".

ARTICLE II - MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1 Eligibility.

Any person sincerely interested in active participation in The League may apply to become a Member.

SECTION 2 Classes.

There shall be the following classes of Members:

(a) Player Members.

Any child meeting the requirements of Little League Regulation III and who resides within the authorized boundaries of Airdrie Little League as recognized by Little League Alberta District # 3, shall be eligible to compete for participation but shall have no rights, duties or obligations in the management or in the property of the Local League. Player Member may resign at anytime of their own free will. However, upon the commencement of the regular season, the player member forfeits any reimbursement of registration dues, fees, or monies paid to the League.

(b) Regular Members.

Any person/volunteer, actively engaged in the actual operation of The League, is to be regarded as a Regular Member.

All League Officers, Directors, Board Members, Committee Members, Managers, Coaches, Assistant Coaches, Umpires, Volunteers, and any other elected or appointed officials must be active Regular Members in good standing.

An intention of resignation must be first brought to the attention of the President in the form of a verbal communication or e-mail. Upon which time the President may elect to accept the resignation. An official resignation of any Regular Member must be then made in writing, addressed to the President of the League, with a minimum 30 days notice, to allow recruitment of a replacement member.

SECTION 3 Conduct and Discipline.

The Board of Directors, by a two-thirds vote of those present at any duly constituted meeting, shall have the authority to discipline or suspend or terminate the membership of any Player Member or Regular Member when the conduct of such person is considered by the Board, to be detrimental to the best interests of The League and/or Little League Baseball, other affiliated organizations, or in violation of The League's By-Laws.

The Member involved shall be notified of such meeting, informed of the general nature of the charges and given an opportunity to appear at the meeting to answer such charges. The Board of Directors shall, in the case of a Player Member, give notice to the Manager/Coach of the team of which the player is a member. Said Manager shall appear in the capacity of an advisor, with the player, before a duly appointed committee of the Board of Directors, which shall have full power to suspend or revoke such player's right to future participation.

ARTICLE III - DUES

SECTION 1

Dues for Regular Members may be fixed at such amounts as the Board of Directors shall determine prior to the beginning of any membership period. Regular Members who fail to pay their dues within thirty (30) days from the time same become due, will by vote of the Board be dropped from the membership rolls and shall forfeit all rights and privileges of membership.

SECTION 2

Player Members who fail to pay their dues/registration fees prior to the start of the regular season, will be ineligible to play or participate in Little League Baseball. The Player Agent will act to identify and notify such Player Members and may at his/her discretion, make other arrangements for payment in full to the League under special circumstances, endorsed by the President.

ARTICLE IV - MEETINGS

SECTION 1 General Meetings.

Notice of a General Meeting of all the Regular Membership shall be mailed, e-mailed, or otherwise contacted to each Regular Member at his last recorded address at least five (5) days in advance thereof setting forth the place, time and purpose of the meeting.

Notice of the Annual General Meeting of all the Regular Membership shall be advertised in the local community newspaper at least fourteen (14) days in advance of said Annual General Meeting and/or given in another form as may be authorized by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 2 Special Meetings.

As required by any League Executive, Director of Baseball, Board Member, and Committee Manager, organizational meetings of the membership may be called after the advisement and approval of the President. Upon the request of the Member, the President shall approve the specific subject of the special meeting to be considered. No business other than that specified in the notice of the meeting shall be transacted at any meeting of the Members. No Members shall be permitted to meet on any subject regarding the League without approval of the President.

Notice of a Special Meeting of all the Membership shall be mailed, e-mailed, or otherwise contacted to each Regular Member at his last recorded address at least five (5) days in advance thereof setting forth the place, time and purpose of the meeting.

SECTION 3 Quorums at General Meetings and Special Meetings.

The presence of at least 60 percent of the Members involved in the League Committee, sitting League Executive, or on a Volunteer League sub-organization shall be necessary to constitute a quorum.

SECTION 4 Voting.

Only Regular Members in good standing shall be entitled to vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Local League. No votes by proxy will be allowed.

SECTION 5 Rules of Order.

Parliamentary procedure shall govern the proceedings of all meetings, except where same conflicts with the Constitution or By-Laws of the League.

ARTICLE VI [✓] BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 1 Board of Directors.

The management of the property and affairs of the Local League shall be vested in the Board of Directors. The number of Directors shall be a minimum of six (6) and are elected into the respective positions by the Regular Membership at the Annual General Meeting. The Board of Directors shall upon election immediately enter upon the performance of their duties and shall continue in office until their successors shall have been duly elected and qualified.

The areas of responsibility and accountability of the Board shall be as follows:

1. President – Oversee and direct all League Operation, Organization, Administration, and Management. All matters regarding League Policies, By-Laws, Rules and Regulations. Official designate in liaising and communications with other Local Leagues, Little League Districts, Little League Organizations, Government, Media, or any other outside organizations.
2. Executive Vice President – All matters regarding the day-to-day League Operation, Organization, Scheduling and Participation. Including the co-ordination, recruitment, training, development, management, conduct and discipline of the League's Team Managers/Coaches/Assistant Coaches. Assumes the role of Acting President in the absence or inability of the President to perform his/her duties.
3. Treasurer – All matters regarding League Revenues and Expenses. Including annual auditing of League financial statements and all business matters related to the Alberta Corporations Act and Revenue Canada.
4. Player Agent – All matters regarding League Registration of Player Members, including their conduct and discipline. Including supplying of rosters and Player Member information as needed by any League Member or under the Little League Charter requirements, in compliance with the League's "Privacy Policy".
5. Umpire in Chief – All matters with respect to the co-ordination, recruitment, training, development, management, conduct and discipline of the League's Umpires and Junior Umpires. Including acting as the League's mediator with other Local League/District/Little League U.I.C.'s.

6. Equipment Manager – All matters with respect to the purchase, maintenance, storage distribution and supply of the League's baseball equipment and uniforms. In addition he/she will assume the responsibility of managing the maintenance, improvement and repair of the League's existing baseball diamonds.

SECTION 2 Annual Elections and Term of Office.

At the end of each Annual General Meeting, and in concurrence with the new Board of Directors, the President elect shall appoint all necessary Executive Members and Key Volunteers who shall fill the specific positions outlined in Article VI, Section 3. At least two weeks prior to the annual meeting the current Board of Directors shall provide a complete list giving the position of each prospective Executive and Key Volunteer. The President shall collect names and intent of those persons seeking an Executive or Key Volunteer position and will make such public at the beginning of the AGM. All persons seeking such positions must make their intention clear to the President prior to or at the beginning of the AGM.

If, however, any Executive or Key Volunteer position does not have a candidate(s) the Board reserves the right to actively recruit candidates prior to, or at the AGM or accept nominations from the floor. There will be no nominations accepted from the floor challenging any existing potential appointee at the Annual General Meeting.

All terms of office will be for a period of twelve (12) months commencing January through to December of each calendar year.

SECTION 3 Vacancies.

If any vacancy occurs in the Board of Directors, by death, resignation or otherwise, it may be filled by a majority vote of the remaining Board of Directors at any regular meeting or any special meeting called for that purpose.

SECTION 4 Meetings and Notice.

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the annual election and on such days thereafter as shall be determined by the Board. The President may, whenever he/she deems it advisable, issue a call for a meeting of the Board, or at the request in writing of any Board Member, issue a call for a special meeting of the Board. Notice of each meeting shall be given by the Secretary to each Board Member either by mail, at least three (3) days before the time appointed for the meeting to the last recorded address of each Director, by telephone, by fax, by electronic mail or personal notice twenty-four (24) hours preceding the meeting.

SECTION 5 Duties and Powers.

The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint such standing committees as it shall determine appropriate and to delegate such powers to them as the Board shall deem advisable and which it may properly delegate.

The Board may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of its meetings and the management of the Local League as it may deem proper.

The Board shall have the power by a two-thirds vote of those present at any regular or special meeting to discipline, suspend or remove any Director, Officer, Executive Member, Key Volunteer, Committee Member, Umpire, Team Manager, Coach, Assistant Coach or Volunteer of the Local League in accordance with procedure set forth in Article II Section 3.

The Board shall receive at the annual meeting of the Members of the League a detailed audited financial report from the Treasurer, verified by the President, which shall be filed with the records of the League and an abstract thereof entered in the minutes of the proceedings of the annual meeting.

SECTION 6 Quorum.

Five (5) members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

ARTICLE VI – OFFICERS, EXECUTIVE, DUTIES AND POWERS

SECTION 1 Appointment.

Immediately following the business of the Annual General Meeting, the newly elected Board of Directors present, provided there is a quorum, shall appoint Executive Members, Key Volunteers and Committee Managers for the ensuing year. Dependant upon the requirements and projections of the League in that operating year, the Board of Directors reserves the sole right to modify, alter, and change role responsibilities of its Executive Members, Key Volunteers and Committee Managers as it sees fit and in the best interest of the League.

SECTION 2 Officers.

The Officers of the League shall number three (3) and consist of the President, Executive Vice President and Treasurer. These Members will have legal signing authority for all League business. This includes signing documentation under the League's corporate or society seal. Any and all documentation or paperwork requiring a League signature shall be signed by a minimum of two (2) officers. The corporate or society seal will be kept in the possession of the Treasurer along with the Leagues Minute Book.

SECTION 3 Executive.

All Executive Members report directly to the President, unless otherwise stated in the League By-Laws.

Each year the Executive Committee shall be appointed by the President in conjunction with the input and recommendation from the Board of Directors. The Executive shall ideally number twenty-one (21) and consist of the Board of Directors (President, Vice President, Treasurer, Player Agent, Umpire In Chief, and Equipment Manager) by default, Directors of Baseball (Director of T-Ball and American Division Baseball, Director of Minor-Mosquito Division Baseball, Director of Minor Division Baseball, Director of Major Division Baseball, Director of Junior, Senior and Big League Division Baseball, Director of Junior Mens Division Baseball), Secretary, Safety Officer, Assistant Umpire In Chief, League Scheduler, Information Officer, Marketing Manager, Tournament Director, Concession Manager, and Player Development Manager. When applicable the Executive Committee will include the Past President. It is understood that all positions are to be filled but an Executive Member or Board Member may be appointed to more than one position in the Executive Committee.

The role descriptions of each Executive Members will change from year to year as dictated by the evolution and demands of the League over time. At the onset of each Executive Member appointment by the Board, it will outline and make clear to that Member of his/her duties and responsibilities for that year.

SECTION 4 President.

The President shall have full authority over the League and will hold veto power to protect and safeguard the best interest of the Player Members, the Regular Members and the Local League, in accordance with the rules, regulations, policies, by-laws, constitutions and guidelines established by Little League Alberta, Little League Canada and Little League Baseball, Incorporated or any other Baseball organization to which the League may be affiliated.

The President is responsible for and has full authority in conducting all affairs of the League and executing the policies established by the Board of Directors. He/she shall present a report on the condition of the Local League at the Annual General Meeting and at such other times the President or the Board shall deem appropriate he/she shall communicate to the Membership, such matters and make such suggestions as may tend to promote the welfare of the Local League.

He/she shall be responsible for and manage the conduct of the Local League in strict and ethical conformity to the policies, principles, Rules and Regulations of Little League Baseball, Incorporated, Little League Canada, and Little League Alberta as agreed to under the terms and conditions of charters issued to the League by these organizations.

Shall preside at all meetings of the Executive Members and Board of Directors and assumes full responsibility and authority for the overall administration operations of the League. He receives all mail, supplies and other communications from Little League Headquarters. The League President is the contact and communicator between the Local League, Little League Headquarters and all other affiliated or outside organizations unless otherwise delegated.

The President, or other Officers as he/she may designate in writing, shall have the power to make and execute for/and in the name of the League such contracts and leases they may receive and which have had prior approval of the Board of Directors.

Attend meetings and report back to the Board of Directors with regards to the business of Little League Alberta and any of its Districts, Little League Canada, Little League Baseball, Incorporated and any other affiliated organization of the League.

The President shall be advised of and investigate all complaints, irregularities and conditions detrimental to the League and report thereon to the Board as circumstances warrant. Failure of any Member to report and remedy such through the President and the Board shall be subject to disciplinary action.

In conjunction with the Treasurer, ensures the proper and appropriate management of the League's financial affairs.

Acting in an advisory capacity to the Vice President, ensures the ethical, safe, effective, fair, and progressive day to day operation of the League.

With the assistance of the Player Agent, examine the application and support proof-of-age documents of every player candidate and certify as to residence and age eligibility before the player may be accepted for tryouts and selection.

Section 5 Executive Vice President:

The Executive Vice President is responsible and accountable for the overall organization and day-to day operation of the League as it directly relates to Players, Coaches, Assistant Coaches, and Team Managers. The Vice President has exclusive powers in day-to-day decision making and enforcement of League Rules and By-Laws.

Sits on the Board of Directors and reports directly to and is responsible only to the President of the League.

Assumes all responsibilities and powers of the President of the League, in the President's absence or when unable to personally deal with League matters. At such an occurrence, the other Board Members and League Executive Members will be officially informed via e-mail notice, by telephone, or in person by the President.

The fundamental charge of the Executive Vice President is the Directors of Baseball. As leader of Operations of the League the Executive Vice President interacts and guides the Directors of Baseball in the following general scope of responsibility:

Directors of Baseball.

Director of T-ball and American Division Baseball, Director of Minor-Mosquito Division Baseball, Director of Minor Division Baseball, Director of Major Division Baseball, Director of Junior, Senior and Big League Division Baseball, Director of Junior Mens Division Baseball. Each of the above named Directors reports directly to the Vice President and shall assume responsibility for all matters concerning the day-to-day operation of his/her own section of the League. This will include:

- Working with the Board of Directors in pre-season planning.
- Assisting the Player Agent with Registration/Player recruitment and player/team draft.
- Coordinating Player try-outs and evaluations
- Assisting the League Scheduler and Vice President with scheduling
- Organizing and overseeing any in-house League tournament and playoffs.
- Assisting the Tournament Director to coordinate and organize inter-League tournaments.
- Assist the Vice President in Manager/Coach/Assistant Coach recruitment, training and conduct.

He/she shall act in accordance with the plans, objectives, philosophy, and mandate set out by the League's Board of Directors, as administered by the Vice President. All Directors of Baseball are bound within the framework and ethics of the Leagues By-Laws/Constitution, League Policies, and Rules and Regulations of Little League Baseball. He/she shall bring before the Board of Directors only those matters which affect the League as a whole, or those on which he/she is unable to make a decision. All other matters and issues are to be worked through under the direction of the Vice President.

Each of the above named Directors of Baseball shall ensure and facilitate the safety of the League's Player Members and shall be responsible for:

- (a) Ensuring all baseball diamonds used by the Local League are considered safe for use in conjunction with the Equipment Manager.
- (b) Ensuring all baseball equipment is considered safe and of regulation for use in conjunction with the Equipment Manager.

(c) Ensuring all baseball diamonds and/or equipment bags are equipped with proper and complete First Aid Kits in co-operation with the Equipment Manager.

(d) Assisting and promoting, in co-operation with the League Safety Officer, the establishment of emergency procedures that include a pre-game check/plan in the event of an accident/incident. Ensure that all Team Managers and Coaches within their respective Division of Baseball have completed, collected and filed every Player Medical Release form.

(e) Ensuring and accountable to the Safety Officer that all Team Managers, Coaches, Assistant Coaches, or other team volunteers have successfully completed and submitted to the League their Little League Volunteer Application forms and Criminal Background Checks in accordance with Little League Policy.

SECTION 6 Treasurer.

Sits on the Board of Directors and reports directly to the President.

(a) Performs such duties as are herein set forth and such other duties as are customarily incidental to the Office of Treasurer or may be assigned by the Board of Directors.

(b) Receive all monies and securities, and deposits same in a depository approved by the Board of Directors.

(c) Keeps records for receipt and disbursement of all monies and securities of the Local League, including the Parent Concession, approves all payments from allotted funds and draws cheques therefore in agreement with policies established in advance of such action by the Board of Directors. All disbursements by cheque must have dual signatures of the League Officers.

(d) Prepares an annual budget, under the direction of the President, for submission to the Board of Directors.

(e) Prepares an Annual Financial Report, under the direction of the President, for submission to the Membership and Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting.

SECTION 7 Registrar/Player Agent.

Sits on the Board of Directors and reports directly to the President.

(a) Record all player transactions and maintain an up-to-date record and database thereof for access by the President, Vice President, Secretary, and Directors of Baseball.

(b) Receives and reviews all applications for player candidates and assists the President in checking residence and age eligibility.

(c) Prepares detailed data of all registered players for each of the Directors of Baseball.

(d) Prepares, for the President's signature and submits to Little League Canada, team rosters, including players' claimed, and all tournament teams eligibility affidavit.

(e) Notifies Little League Canada of any subsequent player replacements or trades.

(f) Plans, co-ordinates and facilitates the annual Player Registration and team drafts for the League.

SECTION 8 Past President.

When applicable and approved by the Board elect, sits on the Board of Directors in an advisory capacity only.

The Past President shall openly share his/her knowledge and guidance in the general operation of the Local League as requested by the President or the Board of Directors. The Past President may elect to assume a position of responsibility such as a "Director at Large". Such a position would involve taking on a specialized project or duty, identified by the Board of Directors, which serves the best interest of the League in the current year or involving a project which involves a future expansion or development of the League.

SECTION 9 Umpire In Chief.

The Umpire-In-Chief sits as a member of the Board of Directors and reports directly to the President. He/she shall assume responsibility for all matters concerning the day-to-day operation of the League Umpires. This will include:

- Assisting the Player Agent with Registration/Player recruitment.
- Direct the Umpire and/or League Scheduler with Umpire scheduling
- Organizing and oversee Umpiring matters any in-house League tournament and playoffs.
- Assist the Tournament Director to organize Umpires for inter-League tournaments.
- Direct the Umpire and Junior Umpire recruitment, training and conduct.
- Coordinate all clinics and evaluation for League Umpire development.
- Has authority over and responsible for the protest committee.
- Has authority over and is the final word on rule interpretation.

In assisting with each Director of Baseball the Umpire-In-Chief shall ensure the safety of the League's Player Members and shall direct the Umpires and Junior Umpires to be accountable for:

(a) Ensuring all baseball diamonds used by the Local League are considered safe for use in conjunction with the respective Director of Baseball.

(b) Ensuring all baseball equipment is considered safe and of regulation for use in conjunction with the Equipment Manager.

(c) Ensuring all baseball diamonds and/or equipment bags are equipped with proper and complete First Aid Kits prior to the start of any game.

(d) A pre-game check/plan in the event of an accident/incident is in place prior to the start of any game. Inquire and report any deficiency to the Umpire-In-Chief that all Team Managers and Coaches have a completed record of every Player Medical Release form.

(e) Ensuring and accountable to the Safety Officer that all Umpires or other Umpire volunteers have successfully completed and submitted to the League their Little League Volunteer Application forms and Criminal Background Checks in accordance with Little League Policy.

SECTION 10 Equipment Manager.

Sits on the Board of Directors and reports directly to the President.

The Equipment Manager is responsible to produce a budgetary request to the Board for the purchase and maintenance of equipment, inventory and storage facilities. In addition he/she is responsible for presenting estimated costs to the Board for proposed or required diamond capital projects, maintenance and repair.

The Equipment manager is the responsible for:

- the purchase all playing equipment and uniforms necessary for annual needs.
- inventory and keep in a good state of repair all equipment.
- establish yearly needs and budget requirements and work within that framework.
- maintain all diamonds in a playable and safe condition.
- work with the City's Parks Department to facilitate diamond maintenance and repair.
- act as liaison with recreation department for necessary rental permits.
- ensure all baseball diamonds used by the Local League are considered safe for use.
- ensure all baseball equipment is considered safe and of regulation for use.
- ensure all baseball diamonds and/or equipment bags are equipped with proper and complete First Aid Kits.

SECTION 11 Secretary.

A member of the Executive Committee, works with the Board of Directors, and reports directly to the President.

(a) Is responsible for recording the activities of the Local League and maintains appropriate files, mailing lists and necessary records.

(b) Performs such duties as are herein specifically set forth, in addition to such other duties as are customarily incident to the office of Secretary or as may be assigned by the Board of Directors.

(c) Maintains lists of all Regular Members, Directors and Committee Members and give notice of all meetings of the Local League, the Board of Directors and Committees.

(d) Keeps the minutes of all League meetings of the Members and the Board of Directors, and cause them to be recorded in a book kept for that purpose or other electronic means.

(e) Shall conduct all correspondence not otherwise specifically delegated in connection with said meeting and shall be responsible for carrying out all orders, votes and resolutions not otherwise committed.

(f) Notify Members, Directors, Officers and Committee Members of their election or appointment.

(h) Is responsible for ensuring Annual General Meeting (AGM) notices are published in the local newspapers in accordance with the guidelines outlined herein.

(i) Prepares all schedules for all League games and practices and diamonds and maintains an availability list of unused diamonds

ARTICLE VII – COACHES AND UMPIRES

SECTION 1

As chief administrators, the Executive Vice President and Umpire-in-Chief collectively and jointly selects and appoints team managers, coaches, assistant coaches, and umpires. All appointments are subject to the approval of the President after approval and review of the League's Board of Directors.

SECTION 2

While holding such office, the President and Player Agent shall not manage or coach a team at any level of competition.

SECTION 3

League Coaches and Umpires.

(a) shall be responsible for all actions of their assistants and players on the field.

(b) will continuously improve their skills by attending baseball, coaching and umpiring clinics offered by the Local and District League.

ARTICLE VIII - AFFILIATION

SECTION 1 Charter.

The Local League shall annually apply for a Charter, if required, from Little League Baseball, Incorporated, and/or any other organization and shall do all things necessary to obtain and maintain such Charter(s).

SECTION 2 Rules and Regulations.

The Official Playing Rules and Regulations as published by:
Little League Baseball, Incorporated, Williamsport, Pennsylvania, or amended by Little League Canada or any other affiliated organization, shall be binding on this League.

In the case where there are contradictions between, Little League Baseball, Incorporated Rules and Regulations, or Little League Canada Rules and Regulations or any other affiliated organizations rules and the Local Leagues Constitution, Resolutions and/or By-Laws, the Local Leagues Constitution, Resolution and/or By-Laws shall take precedence.

SECTION 3 House League Rules.

The local rules of this Local League shall be adopted by the Board of Directors at a meeting to be held prior to the first scheduled game of the season, but shall be in keeping with the Rules and Regulations of Little League Baseball, Incorporated, Little League Canada or any other affiliated organizations.

ARTICLE IX - AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1

The By-Laws may be amended, repealed or altered in whole or in part by a "special resolution" and carried by a majority vote at an organized special General Meeting or at the Annual General Meeting of the Regular Members provided notice of the proposed change is included in the notice of such meeting.

SECTION 2

Notice of all amendments shall be forwarded to Little League Baseball, Incorporated.

ARTICLE X – LEAGUE IDENTITY

The Local League may adopt a logo for both the League and its competitive teams as agreed to by the Board of Directors.

The Local League colours shall be agreed to by the Board of Directors.

The Competitive/Interlock/Travel/All-Star Teams shall be known as the "Airdrie A's", "Airdrie Athletics" or other such name approved by the Board of Directors in keeping with the current "A's" logo for all levels.

ARTICLE XI - FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING

SECTION 1

The Board of Directors shall decide all matters pertaining to the finances of the League and it shall place all income including auxiliary funds, in a common league treasury, directing the expenditure of same in such a manner as will give no individual or team an advantage over those in competition with such individual or team.

SECTION 2

The Board of Directors shall not permit the contribution of funds or property to an individual team but shall solicit same for the common treasury of the League, thereby to discourage favouritism among teams and to endeavour to equalize the benefits of the League.

SECTION 3

The Board shall not permit the solicitation of funds in the name of Airdrie Little League Baseball or in the name of the League unless all the funds so raised are placed in the Local League treasury.

The League has not the authority, at this time, to borrow, accept loans, accept lines of credit, or similar forms of debt from any financial institution or organization.

SECTION 4

The Board shall not permit the distribution of League funds for other than the conduct of League activities.

SECTION 5

No Director, Officer or Member of the League shall receive, directly or indirectly any salary compensation from the League for services rendered as Director, Officer or Member.

As required, the League may elect to pay for umpires on a per game basis to be reviewed annually.

SECTION 6

All monies received, including concession funds, shall be deposited to the credit of the Local League, and all disbursements shall be made by cheque. The League Treasurer and such other Executive Member shall sign all cheques or officers or person or persons as the Board of Directors shall determine.

SECTION 7

The fiscal year of the League shall begin on the 1st day of January and shall end on the 31st day of December. All financial statements and records will undergo an annual audit and such will be presented to the Membership for review at each Annual General Meeting (AGM).

SECTION 8

Distribution of Property upon Dissolution:

Upon dissolution of the League and after all outstanding debts and claims have been satisfied, the Members shall direct the remaining property of the League to another local Airdrie and District minor sports charity, organization or League which maintains the same objectives and goals for its youth as set forth herein.

The passing of ^{these by-laws} this constitution repeals and renders null and void any previous ~~constitution~~ of Airdrie Little League Baseball.

^{by-laws}
ENACTED at the Annual General Meeting of Airdrie Little League Baseball Association on the 29th day of January, 2006, by unanimous consent of the Airdrie Little League 2005 Executive Committee.